

Quest<sup>®</sup> NetVault<sup>®</sup> Backup Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle* 11.4.5

**User's Guide** 



#### © 2017 Quest Software Inc.

#### ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

This guide contains proprietary information protected by copyright. The software described in this guide is furnished under a software license or nondisclosure agreement. This software may be used or copied only in accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement. No part of this guide may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording for any purpose other than the purchaser's personal use without the written permission of Quest Software Inc.

The information in this document is provided in connection with Quest Software products. No license, express or implied, by estoppel or otherwise, to any intellectual property right is granted by this document or in connection with the sale of Quest Software products. EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS SPECIFIED IN THE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THIS PRODUCT, QUEST SOFTWARE ASSUMES NO LIABILITY WHATSOEVER AND DISCLAIMS ANY EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY WARRANTY RELATING TO ITS PRODUCTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR NON-INFRINGEMENT. IN NO EVENT SHALL QUEST SOFTWARE BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR LOSS OF INFORMATION) ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS DOCUMENT, EVEN IF QUEST SOFTWARE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. Quest Software makes no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this document and reserves the right to make changes to specifications and product descriptions at any time without notice. Quest Software does not make any commitment to update the information contained in this document.

If you have any questions regarding your potential use of this material, contact:

Quest Software Inc. Attn: LEGAL Dept. 4 Polaris Way Aliso Viejo, CA 92656

Refer to our website (https://www.quest.com) for regional and international office information.

#### Patents

Quest Software is proud of our advanced technology. Patents and pending patents may apply to this product. For the most current information about applicable patents for this product, please visit our website at https://www.quest.com/legal.

#### **Trademarks**

Quest, the Quest logo, Join the Innovation, and NetVault are trademarks and registered trademarks of Quest Software Inc. For a complete list of Quest marks, visit <a href="https://www.quest.com/legal/trademark-information.aspx">https://www.quest.com/legal/trademark-information.aspx</a>. All other trademarks and registered trademarks are property of their respective owners.

#### Legend

- **WARNING:** A WARNING icon indicates a potential for property damage, personal injury, or death.
- CAUTION: A CAUTION icon indicates potential damage to hardware or loss of data if instructions are not followed.
- important note, note, tip, mobile, or video: An information icon indicates supporting information.

NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle User's Guide Updated - September 2017 Software Version - 11.4.5 SBG-101-11.4.5-EN-01

### **Contents**

Introducing NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle	. 4
NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle : at a glance	. 4
Target audience	. 4
Recommended additional reading	. 5
Installing and remarring the plant in	_
Installing and removing the plug-in	
Installation prerequisites	
Reviewing the recommended configuration	
Installing or upgrading the plug-in	
Removing the plug-in	. 0
Configuring the plug-in	. 9
Configuring default settings	. 9
Backing up data	
Backing up data through a terminal session	
Backing up data from a different OS	
Offloading backups to secondary media	12
Restoring data	13
Restoring data: an overview	13
Viewing backed-up data in the NetVault Backup WebUI	13
Restoring to a different target machine	13
Issuing SAP Backint commands	15
Commands: an overview	
Issuing commands	
Accessing help from a terminal-session prompt	
Command table	
Parameter table	
Input variables	
Output variables	
Troubleshooting	21
About us	22
We are more than just a name	
Our brand, our vision. Together.	22
Contacting Quest	
Technical support resources	

# Introducing NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle

- · NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle: at a glance
- Target audience
- Recommended additional reading

# NetVault Backup Plug-in for SAP on Oracle: at a glance

The NetVault Backup Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle* (Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle*) increases application availability by providing fast, online backup of SAP databases in Linux, UNIX, and Windows environments. The plug-in supports features such as hot backup, integration with SAP tools, parallel backup support, and selectable backup operations. The following storage-management facilities are available with the Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle*:

- **Hot backup**: With the plug-in used with SAP tools, user databases remain online and accessible during backup operations, which minimizes downtime for users.
- Seamless integration into SAP tools: The plug-in integrates with existing SAP tools, which lets you run backups directly from SAP.
- Supports raw data backup: In UNIX environments, you can back up raw data, including device, buffered files, and pipes.
- Command Line Interface: You can submit jobs using a web-based user interface (WebUI) or command-line interface. Most of the features provided by NetVault Backup backup jobs are supported when using SAP Backint command-line options and parameter files.
- Parallel backup support: You can split backups into multiple jobs for parallel execution and load balancing.
- Selectable backup operations: The plug-in lets you back up only what is needed. Using a command-line interface, you can specify individual files and directories, or back up an entire system.
- i IMPORTANT: The plug-in has officially received SAP logo certification for integration with SAP NetWeaver through the SAP integration scenario BC-BRI 720. Certified functions include: database backup with BRBACKUP, database restore with BRRESTORE, database recovery with BRRECOVER, backup offline redo log with BRARCHIVE, and inquire orders to Backint.

## Target audience

Most operations used with the plug-in require SAP Backint administrator skills, including the initial configuration and defining an efficient backup-and-recovery strategy.

# Recommended additional reading

The following documentation is also available:

- Quest NetVault Backup Installation Guide: This guide provides details on installing the NetVault Backup Server and Client software.
- Quest NetVault Backup Administrator's Guide: This guide explains how to use NetVault Backup and describes the functionality common to all plug-ins.
- Quest NetVault Backup CLI Reference Guide: This guide provides a description of the command-line utilities.

You can download these guides from https://support.quest.com/technical-documents.

# Installing and removing the plug-in

- Installation prerequisites
- Reviewing the recommended configuration
- · Installing or upgrading the plug-in
- · Removing the plug-in

## Installation prerequisites

Before installing the Plug-in for SAP on Oracle, verify that the following software is installed and configured:

- **NetVault Backup Server or Client software**: At a minimum, the Client version of NetVault Backup software must be installed on the machine hosting the SAP Backint database. For an example of a suitable environment, see Reviewing the recommended configuration.
  - **i IMPORTANT:** Upgrading from 4.x or earlier is *not* supported. If you have an existing installation of the plug-in and you might need to restore associated data using the previous version of the plug-in, Quest recommends that you archive the applicable machine with the existing plug-in and associated data. After you have archived the preceding components, remove the existing plug-in and install the new version. Alternatively, you can install NVBU 8.6.1 or later and the Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle* 5.0 or later on a new machine, and run both machines until the earlier machine can be retired.
- SAP Backint software: This database software must be installed and properly configured on the machine serving as the SAP Backint server.
- Client added to the NetVault Backup Server for access: If the machine that hosts the targeted SAP
  Backint database is not the NetVault Backup Server, this machine must be added to the NetVault Backup
  Server as a NetVault Backup Client. For more information, see the Quest NetVault Backup Administrator's
  Guide.

# Reviewing the recommended configuration

While you can set up a single machine as both the NetVault Backup Server and the SAP Backint server, that is, all software installation and configuration requirements are performed on a single machine, Quest recommends that these two entities exist on **separate** machines. The following table displays an ideal setup for use with the Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle*, including the software and configuration requirements to establish this type of environment.

Table 1. Recommended configuration



#### **SAP Backint Server machine**

### NetVault Backup Server machine

### Software installed/configuration

- SAP Backint software
- NetVault Backup Server or Client software
- · Plug-in for SAP on Oracle

Software installed/configuration NetVault Backup Server software

- Plug-in for SAP on Oracle
- SAP Backint Server added as an NetVault
   Backup Client for details on adding a Client
   machine to the NetVault Backup Server, see the
   Quest NetVault Backup Administrator's Guide.
- Media format established: The proper tape format to accommodate NetVault Backup Clients running a different operating system (OS), if applicable.
- i IMPORTANT: Sample images and procedures throughout this guide assume that this *two-machine environment* is in place and all configuration requirements have been met.

## Installing or upgrading the plug-in

- 1 Access the NetVault Configuration Wizard or Manage Clients page.
  - NOTE: If the selected clients are all the same type, you can use the configuration wizard to install the plug-in on multiple clients at the same time. When you select multiple clients, verify that the plug-in binary file is compatible with the OS and platforms of the target clients. From the **Manage Clients** page, you can only select one client for plug-in installation.
    - To access the NetVault Configuration Wizard page:
      - a In the Navigation pane, click **Guided Configuration**.
      - b On the NetVault Configuration Wizard page, click Install Plugins.
      - c On the next page, select the applicable clients.
    - To access the Manage Clients page:
      - a In the Navigation pane, click Manage Clients.
      - b On the Manage Clients page, select the machine that contains the SAP Backint database, and click Manage.

- c On the View Client page, click the Install Plugin button ( ).
- 2 Click **Choose Plug-in File**, navigate to the location of the ".npk" installation file for the plug-in, for example on the installation CD or the directory to which the file was downloaded from the website.
  - Based on the OS in use, the path for this software may vary on the installation CD.
- 3 Select the file entitled "bki-x-x-x-x.npk," where xxxxx represents the version number and platform, and click Open.
- 4 To begin installation, click Next.

After the plug-in is successfully installed, a message is displayed.

**IMPORTANT:** The Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle must exist* on the NetVault Backup Server, regardless of the configuration in use. Therefore, if you are using a single machine configuration, installation is complete. If you are using the recommended Client/Server configuration, *repeat the installation process*, this time installing the plug-in on the NetVault Backup Server.

The plug-in installation file depends the OS in use. The same installation file cannot be used for different operating systems. Therefore, if you are using the recommended configuration *and* the NetVault Backup Server and SAP Backint server are each running a *different* OS, the proper installation files must be obtained and used; that is, from the plug-in installation CD or from the Quest website.

## Removing the plug-in

- 1 In the Navigation pane, click Manage Clients.
- 2 On the Manage Clients page, select the applicable client, and click Manage.
- 3 In the Installed Software table on the View Client page, select Backint, and click the Remove Plugin button ( ).
- 4 In the Confirm dialog box, click Remove.

# Configuring the plug-in

· Configuring default settings

## Configuring default settings

The plug-in lets you set default options for backup and restore jobs. You can override these options on a per-job basis.

- 1 In the Navigation Pane, click Create Backup Job, and click Create New next to the Selections list.
- 2 In the selection tree, open the applicable client node, and select **Backint**.
- 3 From the Actions list, select Configure.
- 4 Complete the applicable fields:
  - Server name: Enter the name of the NetVault Backup Server in this field. This name is the NetVault
    Backup name for the server with device control that is used to process backups.
  - Job Start Timeout (secs): Specify the time, in seconds, that NetVault Backup should wait before
    canceling its attempts to connect to the NetVault Backup Server.
  - Backup directory contents: By default, if a directory name is specified instead of a file, the
    directory contents are not backed up. If you want the files in the specified directory included in the
    backup, select this check box.
    - **i IMPORTANT:** Even if this option is selected, subdirectories contained in the directory specified are *not* backed up. To back up subdirectories, include the "-r" switch at the command line when initiating a backup.
  - Split backup sub-jobs by volume: To group jobs that back up files from more than one volume into volume-based subjobs, select this check box.
  - Use network compression: To compress data before transmitting it over a network, select this
    check box. When the data reaches its destination, it is decompressed.
    - i | IMPORTANT: With this option selected, backups might take longer to complete.
  - Mass open for 'File-online': To open all files for backup simultaneously, select this check box.
     When you initiate a backup at the command line, include the "-t" switch for the "file\_online" command.
  - Backup sub-job count: Enter the maximum number of subjobs that any given job can have.
     NetVault Backup sizes the subjobs equally. For example, if the data being backed up is 5 gigabytes (GB) and the Backup subjob count is 10, each subjob would be approximately 500 megabytes (MB).
    - i IMPORTANT: This option functions only if the Split backup sub-jobs by volume option is cleared.
  - Maximum restore sub-jobs: Use this option to specify the maximum number of subjobs—usually
    running off separate media—that a restore job is allowed to use. If set to "1," a backup spanning
    multiple pieces of media can only be restored from each item of media in turn.

- Restore to overwrite newer files: If you must overwrite existing files that have a more recent modification date, select this check box.
  - i IMPORTANT: If this option is not selected and older files exist in the backup data, NetVault Backup notes errors in the NetVault Backup Logs during a restore and the restore might fail.
- Restore to create backup of existing files: To create a backup copy of an existing file with a
  different extension before completing a restore, select this check box.
  - **i IMPORTANT:** By default, a restore does not back up existing files before overwriting them. Therefore, without this item selected, existing files are overwritten.
- Restore to restore original timestamps: If you want the timestamps on restored data reset to what they were when the files were backed up, select this check box.
- Default Parameter File: Enter the path to the applicable SAP Backint parameter file that is used as
  a reference point for commands issued from a terminal session, that is, for backup and restore
  operations.
  - **i IMPORTANT:** For more information about the use of parameter files, see the relevant SAP Backint documentation.
    - If a Backint command is issued from a terminal prompt using the "-p par\_file>" argument,
      the parameter file specified as the <par\_file> is used instead of the file entered in the **Default**Parameter File field.
- 5 To save the settings, click **OK**.

## Backing up data

- · Backing up data through a terminal session
- · Backing up data from a different OS
- · Offloading backups to secondary media

# Backing up data through a terminal session

Backing up SAP Backint database information is performed through a terminal session; it is not performed using the NetVault Backup WebUI.

1 Start the Plug-in for SAP on Oracle by running the "backint" binary file on each machine on which the plug-in is installed.

This file is located in the following directory, where "..." represents the path to the installation of NetVault Backup:

.../netvault/bin/backint

- i IMPORTANT: If necessary, review the relevant OS-related documentation for details on running a binary file.
- 2 To continue the backup process, use one of the following methods:
  - Issue individual commands from a terminal session: This method provides the most control, as
    individual commands are issued for each step of the backup process. Use this type of backup to
    perform immediate backups of specified data.
  - Generate a script file: Create a script file that contains the applicable commands for a complete
    backup procedure, and then run the script as required. This method works well for scheduling
    backups to occur later or for multiple backups that require the same series of commands.
  - **IMPORTANT:** For more information about the commands available for use with this plug-in, see Issuing SAP Backint commands.
    - This document does not provide instructions on how to generate a backup script file. Quest recommends that you only use generated-script backups if you have experience in generating scripts for the environment that you are using.
- 3 After you have initiated a backup job from a terminal session, monitor the backup job progress and log entries through the **Job Activity**, **Job Status**, and **View Logs** pages.
  - For more information, see the Quest NetVault Backup Administrator's Guide.

### Backing up data from a different OS

As noted earlier, if a targeted client is running an OS different from the machine administering the targeted backup device, the tape format must match what is supported for the client system's OS.

Because backups are conducted through commands issued from a terminal session, you must create a Target Set that calls the Media Group that you created and then save the Target Set on the NetVault Backup Server. When you run a backup, you call this Target Set.

- 1 In the Navigation pane, click Create Backup Job.
  - You can also start the wizard from the Guided Configuration link. In the Navigation pane, click **Guided Configuration**. On the **NetVault Configuration Wizard** page, click **Create backup jobs**.
- 2 Next to the Target Storage list, click Create New.
- 3 On the NetVault Backup Wizard Create Target Set page, click Media Options, and select the applicable options:
  - MID: If a piece of media existed in the target device that met the tape-format requirement or if you
    are using a standalone tape device, select this option. After selecting this option, select the required
    piece of media based on its Media Label.
  - Group Label: If a Group Label was established, select this option, and then select the group that
    you created.
- 4 Click Set, and then click Save.
- 5 In the Create New Set dialog box, enter a name for the set, and click Save.
  - i IMPORTANT: Ensure that the name used is in a format that is supported for entry from a terminal session on the OS in use; for example, use short names and use underscores "\_" in place of spaces. Quest also strongly recommends that you specify a name that is easy to remember.

The set is created and saved. Make note of the name for later use.

# Offloading backups to secondary media

The plug-in sends the backup's saveset ID to BRBACKUP to identify the saveset that contains the backed-up set of files. Although you can use data copy and duplicate features to send the saveset to secondary media, do *not* delete the original saveset because of the corresponding ID assigned to it. The copy sent to the secondary media has a *new* saveset ID, which means that BRTOOLS cannot recognize it if you have to perform a restore.

# **Restoring data**

- · Restoring data: an overview
- Viewing backed-up data in the NetVault Backup WebUI
- · Restoring to a different target machine

### Restoring data: an overview

In the same manner as a backup, restore operations are controlled by using commands issued from a terminal session. For more information, see Backing up data.

# Viewing backed-up data in the NetVault Backup WebUI

Unlike the backup process, the restore process lets you use the NetVault Backup WebUI to view data that was backed up. Although you cannot select items and start a restore job, you can browse and examine what was included in a backup.

- 1 In the Navigation pane, click Create Restore Job.
- 2 On the Create Restore Job—Choose Saveset page, select Backint from the Plugin Type list.
- 3 To filter the items displayed in the saveset table further, use the Client, Date, and Job ID lists.
  The table displays the saveset name (job title and saveset ID), creation date and time, and size. By default, the list is sorted alphabetically by saveset name creation date.
- 4 In the saveset table, select the applicable item.
  - When you select a saveset, the following details are displayed in the **Saveset Information** area: Job ID, job title, server name, client name, plug-in name, saveset date and time, retirement setting, Incremental Backup or not, Archive or not, saveset size, and snapshot-based backup or not.
- 5 Click Next.
- 6 On the **Create Selection Set** page, note the names of the database files that were included in the backup so that you can use them to perform a restore from a terminal session.

## Restoring to a different target machine

The Plug-in for SAP on Oracle lets you restore backed-up data to a different NetVault Backup Client, that is, a different SAP Backint machine.

1 Verify that the following prerequisites are met:

- NetVault Backup 8.6.1 or later and the Plug-in for SAP on Oracle 5.0 (Certified for SAP) are installed: At a minimum, these versions of software must be installed on the SAP Backint Server and the intended relocation client, that is, the new target.
- Partition structure and directory layout duplicated: The partition structure established as the SAP Backint specification on the original backup target must be duplicated on the new target. If you intend to restore data to a different directory structure, you can use the "-i <in\_file>" argument.
- New target added as a NetVault Backup Client: Add the new target machine to the NetVault Backup Server as a NetVault Backup Client. For more information, see the *Quest NetVault Backup Administrator's Guide*.
- 2 Use a terminal session to restore the data, and include the "Target client <target client name>" argument in the restore request's syntax.

For example, if you restore data from a backup of a NetVault Backup Client named "SAP\_Client\_1" to a NetVault Backup Client named "SAP\_Client\_2," include the following syntax along with the other restore commands in the "-p" command:

Target client SAP\_Client\_2

i IMPORTANT: As noted earlier, additional syntax is required along with the "-p" command to initiate a restore request successfully. For more information, see Issuing SAP Backint commands.

# **Issuing SAP Backint commands**

- · Commands: an overview
- Issuing commands
- · Accessing help from a terminal-session prompt
- Command table
- Parameter table
- · Input variables
- Output variables

### Commands: an overview

This topic offers brief instructions on how to issue basic Plug-in *for SAP on Oracle* commands from a terminal prompt to perform backup and restore operations. It also includes tables that provide details on the various commands that are available for use, and the parameters and variables that can accompany the commands.

## **Issuing commands**

- 1 Based on the operation to be performed, backup versus restore, verify that all prerequisites have been met; for more information, see Backing up data and Restoring data.
- 2 From the NetVault Backup Server, initiate a terminal session.
- 3 Preface all commands used to initiate SAP Backint backup and restore operations with the "backint" command.
- 4 Follow this step with the applicable commands, based on the operation that you are performing, and include the function, any applicable parameters, and the names of the input, output, and job title.
  - For more information, see the subsequent tables.
- 5 With all applicable values input, press the **Enter** key to start the job.

# Accessing help from a terminal-session prompt

- 1 Navigate to the "...netvault/bin" directory.
- 2 Issue one of the following commands:

```
backint -?
backint --help
```

```
usage: backint -u <user_id> [-f <function>] [-t <type>]
            [-p <par_file>] [-i <in_file>] [-o <out_file>]
             [-T <job_title>] [-c] [-r]
                  User id attached to backup
-u <user id>
                    One of 'backup' 'restore' or 'inquire'
One of 'file' or 'file_online'
See below for permitted parameter file contents
-f <function>
-t <type>
-p <par_file>
-i <in_file>
                    List of files to be backed up/restored/inquired
-o <out_file>
                      Results of command
-T <job_title> Job title
-c
                      Unattended mode
                      Recurse directories
Parameter file contents
                                           Default
Option
                      Value
title
                    حاسمة محاصفتي ع
```

### **Command table**

The following table describes the commands available for use with the Plug-in for SAP on Oracle.

Table 2. Available commands

Command	Description	Default/no entry
-u <user_id></user_id>	Backup utility user.	No user ID
	To attach a user ID to a backup, use this option with the backup operation. When you use this option with inquire or restore operations, only the contents of backups made with an identical ID, or no ID, are listed or restored.	
-t <type></type>	Backup type (file, file_online).	file
	Backint requests permission to start each file, and informs SAP when each file is completed. This command enables SAP to switch the tablespace to BEGIN/END BACKUP mode only when the backup of the related files takes place.	
	<ul> <li>file: No such interactive mode occurs between NetVault Backup and SAP.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>file online: Used only for online backups.</li> </ul>	

Table 2. Available commands

Command	Description	Default/no entry
-f <function></function>	Type or operation (backup, restore, inquire).	backup
	<ul> <li>backup: Defines a backup request, including all the files specified in a list. Backint indicates which files have, or have not, been backed up successfully.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>restore: Requests that a list of files, specified in a list, are restored. Backint indicates which files have, or have not, been successfully restored.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>inquire: Provides information about what files exist in the backup, and in which savesets they are located.</li> </ul>	
-p <par_file></par_file>	Name of the file that contains the parameters that determine the backup procedure. For a description of the available options, see Parameter table.	Default parameter file; if specified in the <b>Default Parameter File</b> field of the <b>Configure</b> dialog box for this plug-in; for more information, see  Configuring the plug-in.
-i <in_file></in_file>	Path name of the file that defines the objects of the function—backup, restore, or inquire. If this parameter is not set, data is read from the standard input.	STDIN
-o <out_file></out_file>	Path name of the file where Backint writes the result of the function—backup, restore, or inquire. If this parameter is not set, the messages are written to standard output.	STDOUT
-T <title>&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;The job title given to the NetVault Backup backup or restore job.&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;Command line backup/restore&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;-r&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;Recurse directories.&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;FALSE&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;tr&gt;&lt;td&gt;-c&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;Unattended mode—no interaction possible.&lt;/td&gt;&lt;td&gt;Attended mode&lt;/td&gt;&lt;/tr&gt;&lt;/tbody&gt;&lt;/table&gt;</title>		

### Parameter table

The following table describes options that you can use with an SAP Backint parameter file. These options are used with the "-p" argument in the command syntax, and can be used in either of the following ways:

- With the "-p <par\_file>" command, where <par\_file> represents the applicable parameter filename: In this case, you can use a parameter file other than the default.
- With the "-p" command alone, without naming a parameter file: In this case, the default parameter file specified in the Configure dialog box is used.

The following table lists the available options, valid entries, and default values used.

**IMPORTANT:** The equal sign (=) is the only valid separator that you can use with values in a parameter file, for example, "-p client = Client1." This requirement applies to both the manual entry of the "-p" command from a terminal session and in an existing parameter file; that is, one called out by using the "-p parameter filename>" command or the one established as the default in the **Configure** dialog box.

Table 3. Available parameters

Option	Value to enter	Default
Advanced options set	<advanced name="" options="" set=""></advanced>	n/a
auto label media	true   false	TRUE

Table 3. Available parameters

Option	Value to enter	Default
backup by volume	true   false	TRUE
backup directories	true   false	FALSE
backup job count	<sort count=""></sort>	1
Backup Life	<# days weeks years>	
Backup target set	<nameofbackuptargetset></nameofbackuptargetset>	n/a
	NOTE: If you are backing up data from a client that uses a different OS from the machine that controls the backup device, enter the target se created in the process described in Backing up data from a different OS.	t
client	<netvaultbackupclientname></netvaultbackupclientname>	n/a
device	<pre><devicename> [,<device name="">[,]]</device></devicename></pre>	<local machine=""></local>
dont reuse media	true   false	FALSE
Duplicate	true   false	FALSE
Duplicate schedule set	<setnameofschedulesettobeused></setnameofschedulesettobeused>	Immediate
Duplicate target set	<setnameoftargetsettobeused></setnameoftargetsettobeused>	Any Device
file online mass open	true   false	FALSE
first on media	true   false	FALSE
Group label	<nameoftapegroup></nameoftapegroup>	n/a
max restore jobs	<subjobcount></subjobcount>	1
MID	<tapelabel></tapelabel>	n/a
Migrate	true   false	FALSE
Migration Life	<# days weeks years>	n/a
minimum space on media	<space in="" mb=""></space>	n/a
Network compression	true   false	FALSE
Post script	<nameofscriptfile></nameofscriptfile>	n/a
Post script args	<userargumentsforpostscript></userargumentsforpostscript>	n/a
Pre script	<nameofscriptfile></nameofscriptfile>	n/a
Pre script args	<userargumentsforprescript></userargumentsforprescript>	n/a
recurse directories	true   false	FALSE
Restore backup	true   false	FALSE
Restore overwrite	true   false	FALSE
Restore timestamps	true   false	TRUE
reuse media	never   any   by_group	Never
Target client	<nameoftargetnetvaultbackupclient></nameoftargetnetvaultbackupclient>	<local client=""></local>
title	<job title=""></job>	Command Line
verify	true   false	FALSE

### Important notes

Note the following information regarding use of parameters:

• You only have to enter the "-p" argument once in the command syntax. You can then follow it with as many of the commands listed in the previous table as applicable.

- For those entries that list a default entry, you do not have to enter a value if the default is the preferred
  outcome. However, any option that shows "n/a" as its default must have a value entered; otherwise, the
  option is ignored.
- You can override the default values listed in the preceding table by using the default parameter file identified in the **Configure** dialog box. For more information, see Configuring the plug-in.
- You can issue a Backint command that includes the "-p parameter filename" argument. In this case,
  the specified parameter file and its default values are used instead of the file specified in the Configure
  dialog box.

### Input variables

The **Input** variable used along with the Backint command, that is, whether in a file specified by the "-i <in\_file>" option, or using standard input, depends the applicable function, that is, **backup**, **restore**, or **inquire** and is described in the following table:

Table 4. Available input variables

Function	Input format
backup	Full path names of files to back up. One file per line.
inquire	<ssid> [<file>]</file></ssid>
	<b>SSID&gt;</b> is either the saveset ID that contains the file, or "#NULL" if all savesets are to be searched.
	<b><file></file></b> is the full path name of the file to list. If omitted, the complete contents of the specified saveset are output.
restore	<ssid> <file> [<relocate>]</relocate></file></ssid>
	<ssid> is the saveset ID that contains the file to restore. This was output by Backint at the time the backup was made. You can also determine it by using the "inquire" function, or by using the saveset table on the Create Restore Job page to list the Backint backups. If <ssid> is #NULL, the most recent <file> from the latest saveset is restored.</file></ssid></ssid>
	<pre><file> is the full path name of the file to restored</file></pre>
	<relocate> If present, the name of the directory to write the file to. This variable can be used if the original location is no longer available or active.</relocate>

## **Output variables**

The **Output** variable is entered along with the Backint command, that is, specified by the "-o <out\_file>" option or to standard output if not supplied, depends the applicable function, that is, **backup**, **restore**, or **inquire**, and is described in the following table:

Table 5. Available output variables

Function	Output format
backup	<result> <ssid> <filename></filename></ssid></result>
	There is one line of the preceding format for each file specified in the input list.
	<ul> <li><result> is "#SAVED" if the file was successfully written to the backup, or "#ERROR" if the file could not be written. You can use the View Logs page to determine the reason for the failure.</result></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><ssid> is the saveset ID that the file was written to. If the result was <error>, none is given.</error></ssid></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><filename> is the filename, as specified in the input list.</filename></li> </ul>
restore	<result> <ssid> <filename></filename></ssid></result>
	There is one line of the preceding format for each file specified in the input list.
	<ul> <li><result> is "#RESTORED" if the file was successfully restored, or "#ERROR" if the file could not be restored. You can use the View Logs page to determine the reason for the failure.</result></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><ssid> is the saveset ID that the file was written to. If the result was <error>, none is given.</error></ssid></li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><filename> is the filename, as specified in the input list.</filename></li> </ul>
inquire	<result> <ssid> <filename></filename></ssid></result>
	There is <i>at least</i> one line of the preceding format for each line of the input list.  • <pre></pre>

- <result> is "#BACKUP" for each file on backup matching the requested criteria, or "#NOTFOUND" if no matches were found.
- <SSID> is the saveset ID that the file was written to. If the result was <ERROR>, none is given.
- <filename>> is the filename, as specified in the input list.

## **Troubleshooting**

This topic describes some common errors and their solutions. If an error occurs that is not described in this table, obtain the SAP Backint error number from the NetVault Backup Logs, and then see the relevant SAP documentation for the resolution.

**Table 6. Troubleshooting** 

#### **Explanation** Error message NetVault Backup 10.x service Check the Windows Event Viewer for the following message: PDT FATAL: (netvault-pgsql) does not start on lock file "postmaster.pid" already exists. Windows. NetVault Backup 10.x uses a PostgreSQL database. If the PostgreSQL database does not start, NetVault Backup cannot start. To correct this issue, delete the "postmaster.pid" file from the location referenced in the log and restart the NetVault Backup Server. For more information, see https://support.quest.com/netvault-backup/kb/122475. Method 1: Failed to add backup record In the Navigation pane, click Explore Storage, select the target media, and Failed to write index of click Scan. NetVault Backup stores index information for backup jobs in two backup to the database locations: in the NetVault Database and on the media targeted by the backup. Performing this scan adds the index information to the NetVault These messages indicate that the Database. To verify that the information was added, open the saveset table selected data was backed up, but on the Create Restore Job page and locate the specific job. If you can the job's index information was not browse it and set up a restore job, the scan process has corrected the properly added by NetVault problem. Backup to its database. Without this index information, the data Method 2: cannot be properly restored. If the previous method failed, run the backup job again.

### We are more than just a name

We are on a quest to make your information technology work harder for you. That is why we build community-driven software solutions that help you spend less time on IT administration and more time on business innovation. We help you modernize your data center, get you to the cloud quicker and provide the expertise, security and accessibility you need to grow your data-driven business. Combined with Quest's invitation to the global community to be a part of its innovation, and our firm commitment to ensuring customer satisfaction, we continue to deliver solutions that have a real impact on our customers today and leave a legacy we are proud of. We are challenging the status quo by transforming into a new software company. And as your partner, we work tirelessly to make sure your information technology is designed for you and by you. This is our mission, and we are in this together. Welcome to a new Quest. You are invited to Join the Innovation.

## Our brand, our vision. Together.

Our logo reflects our story: innovation, community and support. An important part of this story begins with the letter Q. It is a perfect circle, representing our commitment to technological precision and strength. The space in the Q itself symbolizes our need to add the missing piece—you—to the community, to the new Quest.

## **Contacting Quest**

For sales or other inquiries, visit www.quest.com.

### **Technical support resources**

Technical support is available to Quest customers with a valid maintenance contract and customers who have trial versions. You can access the Quest Support Portal at https://support.quest.com.

The Support Portal provides self-help tools you can use to solve problems quickly and independently, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. The Support Portal enables you to:

- · Submit and manage a Service Request.
- · View Knowledge Base articles.
- Sign up for product notifications.
- Download software and technical documentation.
- View how-to-videos.
- · Engage in community discussions.
- · Chat with support engineers online.
- · View services to assist you with your product.